National Employment Policy and Strategy of Ethiopia

November 2009

Addis Ababa

Acronyms

AIDS	Acquired Immunity Deficiency Syndrome
ART	Anti-retroviral Therapy
CETU	Confederation of Ethiopian Trade Unions
CSA	Central Statistical Agency
EEF	Ethiopian Employers' Federation
EPRDF	Ethiopian People's Revolutionary Democratic Front
ERP	Economic Reform Program
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
HERQA	Higher Education Relevance and Quality Agency
HICES	Household Income and Consumption Expenditure Survey
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IHDP	Integrated Housing Development Program
IMF	International Monetary Fund
M&E	Monitoring and Evaluation
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MFI	Micro-finance Institutions
MOFED	Ministry of Finance and Economic Development
MSE	Micro and Small Enterprises
NEC	National Employment Council
NEPS	National Employment Policy and Strategy
NES	National Employment Secretariat
NGO	Non-governmental Organization
PASDEP	Plan for Accelerated and Sustainable Development to End Poverty
PSNP	Productive Safety Net Program
TVET	Technical and Vocational Education and Training
UEAP	Universal Electricity Access Program

Table of Contents
Forewordiv
PART ONE
Background 1
1.1 General introduction
1.2 Population, its Profile and Dynamics
1.3 The Relationship between Economic Growth, Employment and Poverty Reduction 3
1.4 Nature and Incidence of Employment/Unemployment
1.4.1 Trends in Labor Force Supply and Participation Rate
1.4.2 The State and Nature of Employment/Unemployment7
1.4.3 The Status of Labor Market Institutions in Ethiopia 11
PART TWO
Employment Policy and Strategy 12
2.1 Rationale for Employment Policy
2.2 Objectives of the Employment Policy
2.3 Policies and Strategies
2.3.1 Contents of the National Employment Policy & Strategy
2.3.2 Employment Creation (Demand Side of the Labor Market) 15
2.3.2.1 Accelerating Private Sector Development for Employment Generation
2.3.2.2 Strategies to Accelerate Private Sector Development for Employment Generation
19
2.3.2.3 Ensuring Effective and Efficient Public Sector Employment
2.3.3 Improving Labor Productivity (Supply Side of the Labor Market)
2.3.3.1 Raising Agricultural Labor Productivity
2.3.3.2 Raising Productivity of the non-farm Private and Informal Sector
2.3.4 Strengthening Labour Market Institutions, Improving Labour Administration and
Labour Market Services
2.3.4.1 Strategies for Improving Labor Administration and Strengthening Labor Market
Institutions
2.3.5 Cross-cutting Issues: Policy Actions Areas and Strategies
2.3.5.1 Achieving a Demographic Transition

2.3.5.2 Addressing the Employment Challenges of Globalization	. 41
2.3.5.3 Protecting the Rights od Migrant Workers	. 42
2.3.5.4 Addressing Rural-Urban Migration	. 42
2.3.5.5 HIV/AIDS and the Work Place	. 44
2.3.5.6 Mainstreaming Gender in Employment Generation	. 45
2.3.5.7 Enhancing Youth Employment	. 45
2.3.5.8 Promoting Employment Opportunities for People with Disabilities	. 46
2.3.5.9 Protecting Children against Child Labor	. 47
2.3.5.10 Environmental Protection and Natural Resource Management	. 48
PART THREE	
Institutional Framework for Policy Implementation, Monitoring & Evaluation	. 50
3.1 Institutional Framework for Policy Implementation	. 50
3.1.1 National Employment Council (NEC)	. 50
3.2 Monitoring & Evaluation of Policy Outcomes	. 52
3. 3 Policy Implementation Modality	. 54
3. 4 Policy Review	. 55

Foreword

Employment provides an important linkage between economic growth and poverty reduction by allowing the poor to generate income. As asserted in the Plan for Accelerated and Sustainable Development to End Poverty (PASDEP), the Government of Ethiopia gives due emphasis to employment creation, both in the context of poverty reduction through creating employment opportunities and using labor resource for growth as one of the most important resources the country is endowed with. While employment issues currently are governed by the provisions of the Labor Law of the country and by different international conventions ratified by the country, it has become mandatory for the country to have a national employment policy and strategy that guides the issue of employment creation and labor administration in a coordinated manner, both in the urban and rural and formal and informal sectors. In pursuit, the Government of Ethiopia, through the Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs, initiated the preparation of this document - National Employment Policy and Strategy of Ethiopia. The preparation of the policy and strategy document undergoes a process of stakeholder participation including the International Labor Organization (ILO), MoLSA, the private sector, and relevant regional bureaus. Moreover, the preparation of the document was preceded by the preparation and discussion of a background document.

PART ONE

Introduction



1.1 General Introduction

The overwhelming fact of the labor market in Ethiopia is the rapid growth of labor supply. The labor force is growing much more rapidly than the population as a whole because of the young dominated demographic profile. There are many more under 15 years old entering the work force each year than there are old people living the labor force.

Unemployment (mainly as an urban phenomenon) and underemployment continue to be serious social problems in Ethiopia despite some improvements in recent years. This is mainly a result of rapid population and labor force growth (on the supply side) and limited employment generation capacity of the modern industrial sector of the economy (on the demand side).

It is recognized that poverty is less an outcome of open unemployment than of low labor productivity and inadequate levels of income. The agricultural sector and the informal urban sector employ a large size of labor force in Ethiopia. However, employment in these sectors is characterized by low earnings and contributes significantly to the problem of "working poor".

Labor market institutions provide such services as protecting the interests of workers based on standards and regulations related to employment, wages, benefits, promotion and other issues. In Ethiopia, the scope of such institutional provisions and protections has been confined in most part only to the public enterprises and to some private sector employees, with no protection for the largest segment of the labor force which is engaged in the informal sector and subsistence farming. Public and private employment services are too weak to provide even basic services such as information to jobseekers and employers. The situation is believed to result in lack of protection and job security, lack of social dialogue, and poor labor market services against the background of labor market imperfections.

Employment provides a link between growth and poverty reduction only when it is systematically guided through policies and strategies that influence the determinants of labor market characteristics. It is, therefore, necessary for Ethiopia to address the problem of unemployment and underemployment, working poor, and lack of protection in the informal sector through a coordinated employment policy framework addressing the issues of labor demand, labor supply, and labor market institutions in an integrated manner. The National Employment Policy and Strategy (NEPS) of Ethiopia is prepared in response to the need for such a framework to guide interventions aimed at improving employment and its poverty outcomes in the country.

This National Employment Policy and Strategy document is organized as follows: In Part One, an overview of the labor market characteristics of the country is discussed. This is followed by the presentation of the key policy and strategic issues in Part Two. The key policy and strategic issues include the need for employment creation, growth of labor productivity, improving labor market institutions, and addressing cross-cutting issues. Part Three provides institutional framework for policy implementation and monitoring and evaluation.

1.2 Population, its Profile and Dynamics

With a land area of 1.1 million square kilometer and a population of about 73.9 million (50.46 male and 49.54% female) in 2008/09¹, Ethiopia is the second populous country in Africa next to Nigeria. Ethiopia stood 9th in terms of geographic area in the whole of Africa. According to the May 2007 Population and Housing Census of Ethiopia, about 84 percent of the population still resides in rural areas agriculture being the major source of livelihood. Although the rate of population growth has been on a declining trend over the last three decades (3 percent per annum in the 1980s, 2.73 percent up until the early 1990s and 2.6 percent from the mid 1990s up to 2007) Ethiopia's population growth is still considered to be high given its size and demographic profile.

According to the May 2007 Population and Housing Census results (CSA, 2008), Ethiopia's population is predominantly young with about 45% of the population being below 15 years of age. According to the May 2007 Population and Housing Census results, the proportion of working age population (15-64 years) was estimated at about 52 percent. The dependency ratio (number of dependents per 100 working age population) was estimated at 93 by the end of 2007, youth and senior citizens dependency being 87 and 6, respectively (CSA, 2008). High dependency means higher pressure on public

¹ Population size was estimated at 73.9 Million according to the May 2007 Population and Housing Census Report

services, high level of unemployment, low per capita income, and low level of domestic saving and asset accumulation with serious implication on poverty incidence. This has also serious implication on natural resources degradation with far reaching consequence on sustainable development.

The root cause of high rate of population growth is the combination of high fertility and declining mortality. According to the Demographic Health Survey Conducted by the Central Statistical Agency (CSA) in 2005, though fertility has declined over time, it is still very high, at an estimated 5.4 (6.0 in rural areas, 2.4 in urban areas) births per woman, which is high by African standard which averaged 5.1 births and world standard which averaged 2.7 births per woman in the same year. Furthermore, remarkable declines in fertility have already taken place in urban areas -especially in Addis, where fertility has fallen fairly rapidly, which is estimated to be below 2.0 births per woman, compared with the national average of 5.4.

The Government has long recognized that rapid population growth is the major challenge in its poverty reduction effort. Accordingly, one of the pillar strategies of Ethiopia's Five Year Development Plan entitled Plan for Accelerated and Sustained Development to End Poverty (PASDEP), currently in its last year (2009/10) of implementation, is addressing the population challenge through balancing population growth with economic growth. One of the key interventions towards realizing this objective has been concerted implementation of family planning via increasing contraceptive prevalence rate from 15% to 80% by the end of the plan period (2009/10). Contraceptive prevalence rate has reached 33% by the end of 2007/08. The target has been to reduce fertility rate from 5.4 in 2004/05 to 4 by the end of 2009/10. Studies indicate that fertility rate has not yet gone down as desired and there is still huge pent up demand for family planning services.

1.3 The Relationship between Economic Growth, Employment and Poverty Reduction

The Ethiopian economy has witnessed a shift to a higher growth path since 2003/04. The shift to a higher growth path has been maintained since then. As a result, the last six years ending in 2008/09 witnessed annual average real GDP growth rate of 11.1 percent. This period has also witnessed the beginnings of two peculiar changes in the economic landscape of this country: a shift to a higher growth path and more diversified sources of growth. In the past (up until 2002/03), growth had been volatile owing to weather induced fluctuations in the agriculture sector as well as associated terms of trade effects.

However, following the recovery commencing in 2003/04, growth has been very much sustained and complemented by strong performance in the construction, manufacturing, trade and tourism, banking and insurance, and real estate sectors/sub-sectors. The construction sector has been spurred by the much needed public sector investment in infrastructure (roads, rural infrastructure development including food security, telecom, power, irrigation, etc) and private sector expansion as well. Even when the drought year of 2002/03 is included in to the computation of the growth performance in the recent past, real GDP growth averaged 9.5 percent(about 2 percentage point lower than the average growth excluding the drought year) during the six-year period ending in 2008/09 while real per capita GDP growth averaged 6.5 percent (Table 1.1).

Even with this adjustment for recovery from drought, the growth performance realized so far has been considered commendable. For instance, according to the May 2008 International Monetary Fund's (IMF) Article IV Consultation Staff Report, Ethiopia has had the fastest growing non-oil and non-mineral economies in Sub-Saharan Africa. This is well above the level of 7 percent per annum originally estimated to have been needed to reach the goal of halving the proportion of the population living below the poverty line. Real per capita GDP has been increasing at an annual average rate of about 8 percent during the six year period ending in 2008/09. Real per capita GDP has reached USD\$223 by the end of 2008/09 from around USD\$120 in the mid-1990s².

Table 1.1. Alinuar percentage change (%) In Gloss Domestic Floduct (GDF)											
			Six Years	Average							
		I.	I.	_	_	Average	including				
T.	2002/03	2003/04	2004/05	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	(Percent)	Drought		
Item								Excluding	Year		
								Drought Years			
Agriculture and	-10.5	16.9	13.5	10.9	9.4	7.5	6.0	11.6	8.0		
allied activities											
Industry	6.5	11.6	9.4	10.2	10.2	10.4	9.2	10.4	9.7		
Manufacturing	0.8	6.6	12.8	10.6	8.3	7.1		9.1	7.7		
Construction	13.6	19.5	7.5	10.5	10.9	11.3		11.9	12.2		
Services	6.0	6.3	12.8	13.3	14.3	17	15.0	12.7	11.6		
Distributive	5.5	6.4	14.7	14.2	16	15.2	15.0	13.3	12.0		
Services											
Other Services	6.5	6.1	10.9	12.5	13.1	14.2	15.0	11.4	10.6		
GDP at 1999/00	-2.1	11.7	12.6	11.6	11.4	11.6	10.2	11.8	9.5		
constant prices											
Real GDP/cap	-4.9	10.5	8.8	7.8	8.2	8.3	7.6	8.7	6.5		
General inflation	10.9	7.3	6.1	10.6	15.8	25.3	36.4	12.7	13.0		

 Table 1.1: Annual percentage change (%) in Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

Note: 2002/03 was a drought year

Source: Ministry of Finance and Economic Development

² Ministry of Finance and Economic Development (MoFED) , 2002: Sustainable Development and Poverty Reduction Programme. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

One of the goals attached to the growth performance of the economy is achieving Goal 1 of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). One of the key channels through which this goal would be realized is through job creation that is remunerative. Pursuing broad-based growth through focusing on agriculture and rural development has been at the centre of Ethiopia's poverty eradication agenda. Based on the analysis of the 2004/05 Household Income Consumption Expenditure Survey (HICES), growth has been translated into significant poverty reduction, particularly in rural areas. Real per capita consumption expenditure of average Ethiopians has increased by 50 percent on average over its level in 1995/96. This has resulted in a notable decline in poverty incidence from 47.5 percent in 1995/96 to 39.3 percent in 2004/05 in rural areas. Poverty gap index also declined from 13.4 percent to 8.5 percent in rural areas during the same period – signifying a decline in the depth of poverty. On the other hand, urban poverty incidence has increased from about 33 percent in 1995/96 to about 35.1 percent in 2004/05 although the depth of poverty has declined from 9.9 percent in 1995/96 to 7.7 percent in 2004/05.

Sustaining the hitherto achieved growth, among others, is central to achieving Ethiopia's development objectives. The on-going investment expansion in growth enhancing sectors such as roads, telecommunication (including information communication technology - ICT)), power sector development (including Universal Electricity Access Program - UEAP) and irrigation development is meant to sustain the recent growth momentum in the coming years.

In terms of the impact of growth on employment creation, the growth process is more important than the growth itself. For any growth to impact on job creation and help reducing poverty, it needs to be broad-based and pro-poor. Ethiopia's growth has been broad-based and pro-poor. As noted above, about 84 percent of the population resides in rural areas and derives their livelihood from agriculture. The fact that poverty has significantly declined in rural areas from 1999/00 to 2004/05 itself is an indication that growth has been broad-based and pro-poor. As indicated in Ethiopia's Five Year Development Plan (PASDEP), job creation through private sector development, implementing focused programs on small and medium enterprise development supported by the TVET and the Integrated Housing Development Program (IHDP) has been articulated as one of the pillar strategies of the PASDEP. The last three years commencing in 2005/06 has also witnessed the initiation of programs/projects with particular focus on urban areas. The narrow base of the modern industrial sector in terms of job creation in the face of rural-urban migration is believed to have contributed to increased poverty level in urban areas. It is also believed that even those jobs created in the unorganized sector (informal sector) are not considered 'decent jobs'.

The overwhelming fact of the labor market in Ethiopia is the rapid growth of the supply of labor. The labor force is growing much more rapidly than the population as a whole because of Ethiopia's demographic profile and there are many more under 15 years old entering the work force each year than there are old people living the labor force.

1.4 Nature and Incidence of Employment/Unemployment

Understanding the link between economic growth and employment has been hindered by lack of comprehensive, adequately disaggregated and consistent time serried data on employment/unemployment that let us track the links. The Central Statistical Agency (CSA) has been providing labor force and related data from surveys of varying scope conducted since the mid-1970s complemented by the 1984, 1994 and 2007 Population and Housing censuses.

However, the results of these survey programs have not been comparable to enable researchers consistently track developments in the labor market. Comprehensive national labor force information representing both the rural and urban areas was recently provided through the 1999 and 2005 Labor Force Surveys. The CSA has also launched a biannual Employment/Unemployment Survey in October 2003 and April 2004 and for the third time in April 2006. This survey program was intended to cover only urban areas given that unemployment is believed to be an urban rather than a rural phenomenon. Urban unemployment, particularly youth unemployment has been and is growing areas of concern for the Government.

1.4.1 Trends in Labor Force Supply and Participation Rate

Over the last two decades, the total labor force of the country has more than doubled. It increased from 14.7 million in 1984 to 26.5 million in 1994 and further to 33 million in 2005. Employment creation for such a rapidly increasing labor force (4.4 % per annum), has become increasingly challenging. The labor force participation rate at national level has risen modestly overtime, from 77 percent in 1999 to nearly 82 percent by 2005 (Table 1.2). The rural participation rate increased from 79 percent in 1999 to 85 percent in 2005 compared to urban participation rate of 63 percent in 1999 and 65 percent in 2005. The level of the urban participation rate in Ethiopia is low compared to other African countries³.

In general, the participation rate is higher among men than women and among adults than youth. Overtime the women's participation rate has risen steadily from about 66 percent

³ For instance, 85 percent in Kenya and 79 percent in Uganda (Leibbrandt and Mlatsheni, 2004; cited in World Bank, 2007).

in 1999 to 75 percent in 2005 while men's participation rate has remained relatively constant at about 88 percent during the same period. The women's participation rate increased from 54 percent to 58 percent in urban areas and from 69 percent to 78 percent in rural areas.

At national level, the activity rate of youth aged between 15 and 24 has increased from 72 percent in 1999 to 75 percent in 2005. The participation rate of rural youth (77.5 per cent in 1999 and 82.10 percent in 2005) was much higher than that of the urban youth (45.4 percent in 1999 and 50.5 in 2005). A major factor that explains such variation is educational participation, reflecting relatively lower educational participation in rural areas than urban areas. The higher level of poverty in rural areas may have resulted in greater participation of the rural youth.

1 auto 1.2. 1	Tenus III I	anterpatio	II Tate 0	y age cale					
	1999				2005		Change (%)		
	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural
Age 15+									
Total sample	76.74	62.53	79.01	81.52	64.69	85.11	6.24	3.47	7.71
Male	87.77	73.66	90.68	88.96	72.44	91.91	1.35	-1.66	1.36
Female	65.93	53.54	68.71	74.72	57.99	78.08	13.33	8.31	13.64
Age 15-24									
Total sample	71.80	45.38	77.51	75.32	50.47	82.10	4.91	11.21	5.92
Male	79.46	50.51	85.11	80.76	51.63	88.13	1.64	2.22	3.55
Female	70.12	41.52	70.12	71.10	49.67	76.72	1.40	19.62	9.41
Age 25+									
Total sample	79.26	74.18	79.50	84.68	74.79	86.63	6.85	0.82	8.97
Male	92.16	88.10	92.82	93.19	87.53	94.24	1.12	-0.64	1.53
Female	66.94	62.15	67.75	77.02	64.04	79.21	15.06	3.05	16.91

Table 1.2: Trends in Participation rate by age category and gender (percent)

Source: Calculated based on the information from the 1999 and 2005 Labor Force Surveys

1.4.2 The State and Nature of Employment/Unemployment

Unemployment⁴ and underemployment continue to be serious social problems in Ethiopia despite some improvements in recent years. This is mainly a result of rapid population and labor force growth and limited employment generation capacity of the modern industrial sector of the economy. The national rate of **unemployment**, which stood at 3.6% in 1999, declined to 2.6% in 2005. Open unemployment is not a common problem in rural areas. **Underemployment** defined as the proportion of workers who are "available and ready to work more hours" is a phenomenon of rural areas. However, this does not mean that underemployment is not a problem in urban areas. According to the Labor Force Survey by Central Statistical Agency, underemployment is highest among male youth and prime-age adults, and higher among men than women in both urban and



⁴ Unemployment is measured by taking the following three criteria into consideration, simultaneously: *without work, currently available for work, and seeking work*

rural areas. In particular, the underemployment rate of urban male adults aged 25 to 39 stood at 20 to 25 percent in 2005. The underemployment rate declined beyond the age of 40 at national level as well as for urban and rural residents (CSA, 2006).

High urban unemployment rates remain a major policy challenge. According to the 2006 Urban Employment Unemployment Survey, urban unemployment has consistently declined from 26.2 percent in 2003 to 22.9 percent in 2004 and further to 16.7 percent in 2006. Unemployment rate has been consistently higher among females than males across the years, 35.2% in 2003, 30.6% in 2004 and 22.1% in 2006. The corresponding rates for males stood at 17.6%, 15.8% and 11.5%, respectively. Urban unemployment, particularly youth unemployment being growing areas of concern for the Government, recent survey programs have been intended to cover only urban areas given that unemployment is an urban rather than a rural phenomenon.

Rural-urban migration is considered to be the main contributing factor to urban population growth in Ethiopia. There is a widely shared view that rural-urban migration in Ethiopia is increasing and is driven by the dwindling amount of farmland available to the rural population and also by the low level of agricultural productivity. The rural-urban migration has seasonal behavior and is considerable in different parts of the country.

The majority of the employed labor force is found in the agricultural sector where earnings are low for the labor force to come out of poverty. A large size of the labor force is also engaged in the informal sector where underemployment, poor earning, and lack of institutional protection are the characteristic features. These realities nurture the problem of working poor in Ethiopia, making poverty more a result of poor earnings than open unemployment.

According to CSA's 2006 Urban Employment/Unemployment Survey, looking at the employed population by major occupations, nearly three-fourths of urban employed population of the country is engaged in three almost equally important major occupations: services, shop and market sales workers (25.5 percent), elementary occupation (23.6 percent), and craft and related activities (22.1 percent). Professionals together with technical and associate professionals make up about 10 percent of the employed population while those persons working in legislator and senior officials took the smallest share constituting a mere 2.5 percent of the total employed urban population of the country.

Looking at the employed population by major industrial divisions, as expected, most urban employed population are in the wholesale and retail trade, and manufacturing activities, making up 22.7 percent and 15.3 percent, respectively. Those who are engaged in hotel and restaurant, public administration, private households; agriculture; education, health and social work; other social, cultural and personal and household activities constitute 7 to 10 percent. Extra-territorial organizations; mining and quarrying; financial intermediation, electricity, gas and water supply and real estate contributed little share in terms of creating employment.

According to the same survey, looking at the distribution of urban employed population by employment status of a person (at all-urban level), the bulk of employed population was constituted by self-employed (42 percent) followed by those employed by government and public enterprises (19 percent) and private organization (18 percent). As can be seen from Table 1.3, paid employees altogether constituted about 45 percent of the total working population. Paid employees consist of employees of government, public enterprises, private organization and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and domestic employees. Unpaid family workers have a substantial share (10 percent). The survey results also indicate that paid employment is dominated by males. The proportion of employees of private organization among the males is about twice that of females. Similarly, the proportion of males in government employees is more than one and half times larger than their female counterparts. On the other hand, higher proportion of females than males are found among domestic employees and unpaid family workers. The proportion of females in self-employment also exceeds that of males.

According to the 2006 urban employment/unemployment survey, the total number of employed population ten years and over in 2006 stood at 3,839,274 of which 55% are males and 45% are females. As shown in Table 1.3, the number of Government employees increased by about 26 percent from October 2003 to April 2006 while that of public enterprises showed 8 percent increase over the same period. The number of employees of Private Organizations increased by 57 percent over the same period while that of NGOs increased by 35 percent. Domestic employees dropped by 13 percent during the same period. The self-employed, unpaid family workers, employers and 'others' witnessed an increase of 34%, 57%, 71% and 170%, respectively during the same period. This shows that the biggest increases have been witnessed by members of cooperatives and apprentices (170%) followed by employers (71%) private organization employees (57%), self employed (57%) and government (26%).

Employment	Status a	10 100	(/0)						
Employment Status	October 2003			April 2004			April 2006		
1 2	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
Paid employment	51	44	48	52	46	49	48	42	45
Government	22	14	18	23	15	19	20	13	17
Government enterprises	2	2	2	3	2	2	2	1	2
Private business	20	10	16	21	11	17	22	14	18
NGOs	2	1	2	3	1	2	2	1	2
Domestic	5	17	10	4	17	9	2	12	6
Self employed	40	45	42	40	43	41	40	43	42
Unpaid family workers	7	11	9	5	10	7	8	13	10
Employers	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1
Others (Cooperatives,									
apprentice, etc)	1	1	1	2	1	1	3	1	2
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

 Table 1.3:
 Trends in the Share of Total Employed Population (Ten Years and over) by Employment Status and Year (%)

Source: CSA, 2006. 5

According to existing studies, more than 50 percent of urban employment is accounted for by the informal sector. According to the Informal Sector Survey (CSA, 2002), the total number of persons engaged stood at 997,380 of which 799,353(80%) were operators and the remaining 198027(20%) employees. Women dominate in both categories (operators and employees). The share of women in the total number of persons engaged, operators and employees stood at 60%, 59% and 65% respectively.

As it stands now, the informal sector is not well integrated with the formal (organized) sector. A vertical and horizontal linkage does not seem to exist within the respective activities of informal sector operators.

					Total Nu	mber of Persons	
Sex	Operators		En	nployees	Engaged		
	Number	(%)	Number	(%)	Number	(%)	
Male	328,808	41.13	70,276	35.49	399,084	40.01	
Female	470,545	58.87	127,751	64.51	598,296	59.99	
Total	799,353	100.00	198,027	100.00	997,380	100.00	

Table 1.4: Distribution of Number of Persons Engaged in the Informal Sector by Sex: 2002

Source: CSA, 2002.

⁵ The discrepancy observed between the figures in this table and the survey results is due to rounding in calculating the levels using the ratios provided in the Survey Report.

1.4.3 The Status of Labor Market Institutions in Ethiopia

Labor market institutions play important roles with regard to employment relations, labor protection and provision of labor market services. Labor market institutions are generally considered to be weak in Ethiopia. This weakness is characterized by limitations of regulatory framework and lack of social dialogues among institutions themselves (trade unions and employers' organizations). The available regulatory instruments and institutions more often serve the formal and wage employment sector. No attempt has so far been made to embrace the informal and self-employment sector. The situation is believed to result in lack of protection and job security, lack of social dialogue, and poor labor market services against the background of labor market imperfections.

Ethiopia has issued proclamations in the effort to improve employment outcomes through improving employment relations. The Labor Proclamation (Proclamation No. 377/2003) (FNG, 2004), the provisions of the Employment Exchange Service Proclamation (Proclamation No. 632/2009) and the Right to Employment of Persons with Disability (Proclamation No. 568/2008) govern the relations between employers and employees. There are also employment related ILO Conventions (about 20) that Ethiopia has ratified as part of its domestic law.

Although trade unions are generally weak, public enterprise trade unions are relatively stronger than their private counter parts. Private enterprise employers are reluctant to allow their workers to organize themselves under trade unions. Employees' attempts to organize and ensure their fundamental rights at work are often met with stiff resistance from employers. Such a negative attitude, which has developed over the years, has hampered the role of labor unions in improving the productivity and profitability of their enterprises. Overall, the on-going labor movement has had a tendency to focus on its members in the formal economy rather than on the most vulnerable people (workers in the informal economy, home-workers and migrants).

PART TWO

Employment Policy and Strategy



2.1 Rationale for Employment Policy

In pursuit of realizing Ethiopia's vision of becoming a middle income country in about 20 years time from now and achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), job creation has been articulated as one of the eight pillar strategies of its MDGs-based Five Year Development Plan entitled Plan for Accelerated and Sustained Development to End Poverty (PASDEP). It is widely recognized that employment, earnings and the labor markets play a crucial role in poverty reduction through promoting both economic growth and enhancing its effectiveness in reducing poverty. It is also well recognized in Ethiopia that the availability of employment opportunities and their characteristics constitute an essential transmission channel from growth to poverty reduction. The link that bridges economic growth with poverty reduction and its ultimate eradication is job creation. Employment opportunities and their characteristics provide a mechanism for shared and pro-poor growth.

In developing countries such as Ethiopia, which has a large endowment of labor relative to other productive factors such as capital, effective utilization of labor can make growth faster and more pro-poor. Employment and income derived from employment (selfemployment or wage employment) is the main link between economic growth and poverty reduction. Poverty reduction on a sustained manner would require enhancing the employment content of growth and the distributional effect of growth through integrating the disadvantaged groups, especially the youth, at the entry of the labor market and unskilled women and men in the process of growth. Furthermore, the disparity between women and men in their ability to access jobs would be a concern in order to ensure a real distributional effect in the society. This would require an integrated framework of demand and supply-side policy formulation as well as of institutional reforms.

Employment provides a linking mechanism between growth and poverty reduction only when it is systematically guided through policies and strategies that influence the determinants of labor market characteristics in a desirable way. Ethiopia, as a country with high rate of poverty and rapid population and labor force growth, needs a strategic intervention to maneuver the linkage between economic growth, employment, and poverty to ensure that growth is shared and pro-poor. Income poverty reduction in Ethiopia, where the problem of unemployment, underemployment, and working poor are common, will be difficult unless such problems are systematically addressed. It is, therefore, necessary for the country to approach the problem of unemployment/underemployment and working poor through a coordinated employment policy framework addressing the issues of labor demand, labor supply, and labor market institutions governing the labor market. The National Employment Policy and Strategy (NEPS) of Ethiopia is prepared in response to the need for such a framework to guide interventions aimed at improving employment and its poverty outcomes in the country.

2.2 Objectives of the Employment Policy

The objectives of the National Employment Policy and Strategy of Ethiopia have three important dimensions: enhancing social welfare, accelerating economic growth, and achieving political stability.

Social welfare: The ultimate impact of growth on poverty is determined by the quantity and quality of employment opportunities created. Making growth pro-poor and shared could be assisted through employment policies that address the demand, supply, and institutional dimensions of the labor market. Accordingly, the primary objective of the National Employment Policy and Strategy of Ethiopia is to provide guidelines for streamlining productive employment and decent working conditions in the country and there by promote social welfare and equity through poverty reduction.

Economic growth: In addition to the social objective of welfare promotion through poverty reduction, the policy has an economic objective of accelerating and sustaining growth and development through proper utilization of the country's labor force in a productive manner as the most important resource of the country.

Political stability: A mass of unemployed population, especially when such incidence is high among the educated and the youth, becomes a potential source of political and civil unrest. Employment policies and strategies contribute towards reducing and avoiding such threats by addressing both the supply and demand side of the labor market towards the creation of productive employment.

2.3 Policies and Strategies

Enhancing private sector productivity (both formal and informal) and creating mechanisms for strengthening their linkages and complementarities is critical to create decent and remunerative jobs.

2.3.1 Contents of the National Employment Policy & Strategy

Addressing the employment agenda is fundamental for sustained growth through enhancing labor productivity. The future of employment expansion in Ethiopia is with the private sector. The public sector can no more be the biggest employer. The Civil Service has to be lean and needs to have highly skilled and well paid civil servants to ensure its leading and facilitating role for a thriving private sector. Thus, enhancing private sector productivity (both formal and informal) and creating mechanisms for strengthening their linkages and complementarities is critical to create decent and remunerative jobs to reduce poverty.

Most poor people in Ethiopia live in rural areas and are primarily engaged in low productivity and low paying farming activities. Their pathways out of poverty are thus likely to be strongly connected to productivity improvement in the rural economy - whether they are realized in farming, rural non-farm enterprises or via rural-urban migration.

Similarly, increasing the productivity and earning capacity of the informal and employment-intensive formal sector is indispensable for the alleviation of urban poverty. Hence, what is required is the creation of greater employment opportunities and incomes in the sectors where the poor are concentrated.

Employment generation has two important dimensions that are considered to be the two sides of a coin. The first dimension refers to the ability of the economy to create jobs for various skill categories as per the requirement of the economy. This dimension refers to the demand side of job creation. The second dimension deals with whether or not the skill levels of available pool of persons match with the type of skill that the economy requires. This dimension refers to the supply side of job creation. The National Employment Policy and Strategy of Ethiopia has to squarely address these two important dimensions of job creation. Besides, there is a third dimension that relates to the governance of labor market relations and labor market services. This refers to labor market institutions. The fourth dimension cuts-across sectors/themes having an important bearing on employment and is referred to as cross-cutting issues.

Accordingly, framing the National Employment Policy and Strategy (NEPS) of Ethiopia is approached from these dimensions in pursuit of the goal of employment generation. The policy actions are divided in to four major areas: employment generation, improving labor productivity, improving labor market institutions and cross-cutting areas in the labor market with their respective sub-dimensions as described below. Each of the policy action areas will be further elaborated in turn below.

The following policy action areas are identified pertaining to the **demand side** of employment generation:

- a) Accelerating private sector development for employment generation
- b) Ensuring effective and efficient public sector employment

The following policy action areas are identified pertaining to the **supply side** of employment generation:

a) Improving and raising labor productivity

The following policy action area is identified pertaining to the labor **market institutions**:

a) Improving labor administration and strengthening labor market institutions

The following **cross-cutting** policy action areas of the labor market are also identified to complement the demand and supply side dimensions of employment generation:

- a) Achieving a Demographic Transition
- b) Addressing the Employment Challenges of Globalization
- c) Protecting the rights of migrant workers
- d) Arresting Rural-Urban Migration
- e) HIV/AIDS and the work place
- f) Mainstreaming Gender and Youth in Employment Generation
- g) Protection of children against child labor
- h) Environmental protection and resource conservation

2.3.2 Employment Creation (Demand Side of the Labor Market)

An effective way to reduce poverty is to create productive and remunerative jobs. A comprehensive strategy of employment creation seeks to promote job creation in the private sector, in the public sector, and also in terms of promoting self-employment and entrepreneurship in urban and peri-urban areas.

2.3.2.1 Accelerating Private Sector Development for Employment Generation

In recent years there has been a promising start in private sector investment activities with their associated employment opportunities. A good example is the flourishing horticultural industry in the country. This serves as a testimony that accelerating private sector development is an important entry point to enhance opportunities for job creation in the country. It is well articulated as such in Ethiopia's Five Year Development Plan (PASDEP).

Accelerating private sector development for job creation calls for the following policy action areas:

i) Creating a Conducive Business Environment

As articulated in the PASDEP, there is a need to create an enabling environment for the private sector in order to render it the engine of economic growth, employment and income generation in the country. One area that requires increased attention is the legislative and administrative frameworks which include among others access to land and finance, the tax regime, regulation, contract enforcement and dispute resolution. Promoting small- and micro- enterprises is high on the agenda of the Ethiopian government in terms of its policy framework for private sector development. Despite encouraging improvements in a number of areas, policy innovations are still required to improve the business climate and address bureaucratic hurdles. A particular focus should be given to improving access to business land, simplifying and using the tax system to ensure competitiveness, enhancing access to credit, and improving infrastructure services. Improving the legal and administrative framework would accelerate private investment and thereby help generate more productive employment.

ii) Maintaining Macroeconomic Stability

Macroeconomic policies have had both direct and indirect bearings on employment generation. Fiscal, monetary and exchange rate policies need to be tuned towards creating jobs with in the organized private and the unorganized private sector alike. Therefore, the government should pursue balanced fiscal and monetary policies that safeguard macroeconomic stability and create a more favorable environment for private sector investment and job creation.

Fiscal policy influences private investment incentives of domestic and foreign investors mainly through its impact on after tax profits and there by reducing incentives for further investment. Thus, there is still a need to strike an appropriate balance in the government's endeavor to mobilize tax revenue and private sector incentives for additional investment.

This is crucial given the critical role tax revenues play in the provision of public services (including infrastructure and utilities) to both the growing private sector and the public at large in its endeavor to promote investment, job creation, and economic growth.

Monetary and exchange rate polices also have important bearings on price levels and inflation and on economic stability and predictability, with considerable effect on risk and investment. Expansionary monetary policy promotes investment activities and employment opportunities. Similarly, exchange rate regime could favor exports and imports provided that it is relatively stable and predictable.

Similarly, trade and investment policies complemented with enabling institutional and regulatory environment promotes investment and private sector activities with favorable employment outcomes.

iii) Devising and Implementing Special Incentive Mechanisms in a More Structured, Coordinated Strategic Manner

The boom in the flower industry is largely due to the special incentive scheme that the sector has been enjoying. The incentive system needs to be extended to investment activities with strong backward and forward linkages such as agro-processing and tourism as their impact of indirect employment creation is considerable up and down-stream in the value chain. A proven way to create more employment opportunities is to provide special incentives for investment in agricultural production and labor-intensive agro-processing and export-oriented industries. Special incentives may include subsidized credit services, preferential land lease, lower tax rates, and effective training services for priority sectors. In addition, identifying and establishing selected areas as priorities for investment would attract a large number of domestic and foreign investors. This shall have a considerable impact on employment.

iv) Special Support for Business Development Services

It should be possible for the government to promote private sector development and employment creation through providing business development services, especially to small- and micro-enterprises and to informal sector operators. The government needs to support public institutions, the private sector and NGOs to provide a more integrated and effective system of business development services. It also needs to support the expansion of such services to rural areas, with special emphasis on emerging regions and remote areas. Indeed, the government of Ethiopia has already established the Micro- and Small-Enterprises Development Agencies both at federal and regional levels to support the sector with training, finance and accessing working premises. But these government programs reach only a small proportion of those who need them most. Business development services operated by the private sector or NGOs are limited. This needs to be aggressively supported to reach out all those in need of such services.

v) Further Enhancing Infrastructure Development

The basic infrastructures needed for private sector development include road networks of good quality and density, information and communication technology (ICT), and power infrastructures. Maintaining the current pace of road construction as well as electricity and telecommunication development is necessary as returns in terms of private sector and overall growth will be very high. Reducing the cost of transport and power, together with improving ICT services, is a major strategic tool in enhancing the competitiveness of the country's firms and farms. This helps enhance employment generation.

vi) Arresting Corrupt Business Activities

Corruption leads to the unhealthy prosperity of some businesses and to the demise of many other potentially successful businesses. Corruption in Ethiopia may not be as bad as in some African countries. However, studies indicate that there are still worrisome signals suggesting that this is not time for complacency. It has of course become a serious problem when it comes to the sale (leasing) of public land, tax assessment, government tenders and custom duties.

Beyond arresting corrupt business developments, the government in partnership with the private sector, needs to take action to establish good business ethics and culture. These should ensure acceptable business conduct standards, and effectively govern business activities. There are risks of an unholy alliance for the abuse of power between government actors and some private sector agents in the pursuit of rents. This practice should be arrested.

vii) Enhancing Productivity and Competitiveness

Globalization and market liberalization are the twin global forces on the rise. Efforts have to be made to orient the Ethiopian private sector to regional and global markets. Competitiveness could be enhanced through improving and transforming technology, human power, marketing, information systems, and organizational and managerial capacities and practices. The private sector in Ethiopia is generally constrained by the internal problems of low productivity, lack of innovative ideas and dynamism. In particular, poor competitiveness in international markets limits the outward-orientation scope of domestic industries. Thus, there is an urgent need to enhancing productivity and competitiveness of the private sector.

2.3.2.2 Strategies to Accelerate Private Sector Development for Employment Generation

2.3.2.2.1 Accelerating productive employment in the formal private sector

No country has been able to address its problem of poverty without creating a dynamic agricultural sector strongly linked to the modern productive sector (industry) and service sector. As such, in the long-term, it would be desirable to achieve structural transformation by enhancing the share of the industrial and service sectors. The main problem in the formal private sector is how to create more jobs to absorb the growing number of the labor force, while the challenge in the informal sector is to increase income⁶. Pursuing the following strategy is central in generating productive employment in both the informal and formal private sector:

i) Support private investment in the employment-intensive manufacturing sector and enhance its competitiveness

A dynamic manufacturing sector ensures that structural transformation generates employment and enhances the development of backward and forward linkages within the wider economy. The manufacturing sector in Ethiopia is narrow and weak and this has to change to make the transition to a more diversified economy and to generate formal employment.

The best way to expand employment is to improve the competitive capabilities of highly labor-intensive sub-sectors such as food and beverages, textiles, leather, chemical and chemical products and other non-metallic mineral products in the manufacturing sector. If their productivity and competitiveness is enhanced, they can withstand the challenges of globalization and competition from more capital intensive industries.

The same industries have been identified by PASDEP for direct support. But further actions are required to maximize decent employment opportunities:

- Identify industrial zones in each region and put in place a more transparent and less costly method of leasing land to investors in labor-intensive manufacturing subsectors.
- Reducing the cost of land can contribute to competitiveness of Ethiopian firms and create more employment. Getting land for construction is ranked as the number one constraint in a recent business climate study (World Bank, 2007b).

⁶ Economic Commission for Africa, Economic Report on Africa 2005: Meeting the Challenges of Unemployment and Poverty in Africa, Addis Ababa, 2005.

- Support Research and Development (R&D) and technological diffusion to improve competitiveness of the private sector. Labor-intensive manufacturing enterprises need new technologies and designs to be competitive in both domestic and foreign markets. Hence, there is a need for improving the accessibility of innovations and R&D support programs and enhancing collaborations between industry and research institutions/universities as well as technology developers and suppliers within and outside the country
- Render the tax regime less constraining to investors and reduce the top marginal corporate taxes. The overall tax regime has been identified as the second most important problem to doing business. The marginal corporate tax rate is also higher than the rate in countries such as Kenya and Uganda (World Bank, 2007b).
- Further strengthen the existing Public-Private Partnership Forum to enable the private business community and investors in policy dialogue.

ii) Promote the labor-intensive private construction sector

The following strategies are required to maximize the volume of jobs created in the construction sector:

- Employment guidelines need to be developed for foreign construction companies to utilize as much local labor as possible to transfer knowledge and build local capacity. Foreign construction companies mainly rely on experts brought from their own countries (e.g. Chinese companies) instead of using local experts and building their capacity.
- Design a support program to establish and strengthen small and community-based construction companies. There is a need to form small construction firms established as share companies of unemployed youth and members of the local community. They are well placed for building small roads (feeder/ access roads), and rehabilitating roads, building irrigation structure, developing clean water supplies, constructing residential and non-residential premises, and supplying construction materials.
- Encourage and organize individual small scale contractors of differing grades (including those operating in the informal sector) to form associations and enhance their capacities through tailor-made capacity building training programs to develop local capacity in the construction sector.
- Undertake a comprehensive study and regularly update on the constraints of laborintensive construction activities.

iii) Develop tourism-based small and medium sized enterprises

The PASDEP has recognized and emphasized tourism as one of the under-exploited niche markets to spur growth and employment generation. The long-term vision is also to render Ethiopia one of the top ten tourist destinations in Africa by the year 2020. Tourism based on historical sites, wildlife and natural sceneries can create new employment opportunities and increase the income of workers in the sector by a significant margin. The following specific strategies are needed to tap the employment generation potential of tourism in Ethiopia:

- Ensure that regional governments and municipalities develop technical and financial assistance program to build the capacity of hotels and tour operators in major tourist destination areas. Hotel standards in such areas are extremely low and unattractive to tourists. The support includes development of private catering and hotel management schools. These can have a critical role in training hotel employees and management.
- Promote tourism in Ethiopia through international media: This can be done in close collaboration with all stakeholders involved in promoting tourism.
- Develop an incentive package to foster partnership between local travel and tour operators and international operators.
- Develop policies and guidelines to promote partnership between local communities and investors interested in eco-tourism.

iv) Expand the export of labor-intensive manufactured and processed products

Because of widespread poverty and the dominance of the subsistence sector, the domestic market in Ethiopia is very small and it cannot supply the significant supply-side expansion that is necessary to provide employment for the rapidly growing labour force. The Government has made the necessary efforts in support of a shift to higher-valued crops to facilitate commercialization.

Owing to cheap labor and comparative advantage in the production of various agricultural raw materials and mining products, Ethiopia's potential to export processed and manufactured products is very high. But there are also some factors working against Ethiopia's export competitiveness. The country is landlocked and the infrastructure is inadequate, though it has been improving in recent years. Nevertheless, it is possible to make headway by enhancing policy and the level of institutional and infrastructure support.

PASDEP has identified textiles and garments as well as leather and leather products as areas with high potential for export - but opportunities are much wider and government support should not be limited to a few specific areas as is being currently practiced. Exporters should be able to access all the services they need, including power, water, road and ICT infrastructure at affordable rates. This would allow them to become competitive in the world market. This would allow business owners to innovate and discover new lines of export items. The following specific strategies need to be pursued:

- Review and improve the various incentive schemes currently provided to promote export. The Ministry of Trade and Industry has introduced various incentives to promote export - but export of textiles, garments and leather products has not yet taken off.
- Empower exporters by further encouraging and systematizing active participation of their associations in the formulation, implementation and monitoring of the outcome of various export and investment incentive packages.
- Develop regulatory and institutional frameworks to promote the export of goods and services using e-commerce. Selling goods on line will enhance exports and generate more employment.

v) Mobilizing and supporting the Diaspora

The Ethiopian Diaspora may prove to be an important source of employment creation through investing at home. There are encouraging trends observed in recent years in that regard. Yet, the Diaspora could be attracted more through devising strategies that ensure reliable and stable investment environment. The specific strategies to be pursued may include:

- Provide special investment incentives such as land and infrastructure, investment license, and tax holidays and strengthen existing ones.
- > Identify a special production and processing zone for Diaspora investment activities.
- Encourage the Diaspora to search for markets in their adopted countries for Ethiopian products and to promote linkages between the domestic economy and the economies of the respective adopted countries.

2.3.2.2.2 Promoting Self-employment and Support the Informal Economy

Most people in urban areas work as self-employed individuals in the informal sector producing mainly services and other non-tradable commodities. The informal sector has been acting as the 'employer of last resort' and it is dominated by the unskilled youth and women, the most vulnerable groups. Low return and underemployment are among the major problems of the informal sector. Hence, the most direct and most important channel to reduce urban poverty is to increase the productivity of the informal sector and/or micro and small-enterprises.

Supporting the informal sector is critical for creating decent jobs as it currently absorbs a large proportion of the labor force. This is particularly the case for many women of poor skills and resources. Support should not only be for maintaining businesses but also for transforming them into formal business ventures in the medium and long-term.

Among the major instruments identified in the Country's Five Year Development Plan (PASDEP), currently in its last year of implementation, to support the informal sector and/or micro and small enterprises (MSEs) are Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET), the Micro and Small Scale Enterprise Development Program and the promotion of Micro-Finance Institutions (MFIs).

2.3.2.3.3 Supporting Universal and Compulsory Education on Entrepreneurship

Entrepreneurial skills and knowledge motivate individuals to start their own business activities and improve the chance of business success and growth once a new business is started. Such skills and knowledge open up new employment opportunities for individuals.

In view of the critical advantages derived from entrepreneurial skills and knowledge, the government should introduce universal and compulsory education on entrepreneurship into the school curricula across the country. Entrepreneurial educational programs should be compulsory in the Ethiopian school system, and not limited to just a few selected academic programs, especially at tertiary level.

2.3.2.3 Ensuring Effective and Efficient Public Sector Employment

The public sector is a major formal sector employer in urban areas. It accounts for almost two-thirds of formal sector employment and 68% of employment among those with higher education. Employment creation in the public (civil service) sector used to receive policy recognition in pursuit of a social protection agenda by many developing countries. However, cut backs in public expenditure, privatization of public enterprises, and global forces have tended to reduce the employment creation role of the public sector.

However, the role of government institutions in supporting and providing critical services to the private sector in poor countries has been also well recognized. Thus, an efficient,

lean and capable civil service is critical for a capable state. Employment creation interventions by the public sector could be intentionally geared to underdeveloped regions where the government should perform economic activities that the private sector is not able or willing to undertake.

Creation of employment opportunities in the public sector could also be considered in terms of establishing missing-links or strengthening and expanding existing institutions of social and economic importance to the country. These include education and pubic health services, social service provision to elders and disabled people, and legal services to the population at large. These areas of public intervention could create ample opportunities for new employment in the public (government) sector.

2.3.2.3.1 Strategies towards Ensuring Effective and Efficient Public Sector Employment

A more effective, sustainable and pro-poor public sector employment system can be achieved through investment in infrastructure development, labor-based public work programs and the development of urban centers as capital and skill intensive production and service areas.

Labor intensive infrastructure development is essential to restore basic infrastructure in rural and urban areas. Public investment in economic infrastructure (roads, telecom, power and irrigation) and social sectors (education and health) would contribute to human resource development. Such programs create employment opportunities and promote private sector development by building up infrastructure and improving the supply of skilled labor.

The following specific policy actions are required for effective and efficient public sector employment:

i) Promote labor intensive infrastructure development

Each year a substantial amount of public investment funds are allocated to infrastructure development. The Ethiopian Road Authority, municipalities and city administrations, the Ministry of Water Resources, the Ethiopian Telecommunication Corporation, the Ethiopian Electric Power Corporation, among others, should be further encouraged to adopt labor-intensive approaches in their construction activities. This calls for developing incentive mechanisms and regulations that require each organization to create maximum number of jobs for a given levels of investment.

ii) Improve the effectiveness and relevance of on-going public work programs

As part of a major food security program popularly known as the Productive Safety Net Program, public work programs already play an important role in employing the rural poor in building roads and other infrastructure during times of food shortages. But these programs pay very low wage rates with negative implications on the quality of output.

The following are specific actions proposed to address this problem and ensure decent working conditions:

- Revise current procedures and regulations so as to be able to pay decent wages, and set standards for infrastructure built through Productive Safety Net Programs (PSNPs);
- Empower local communities and ensure their active participation in the implementation of public work programs such as the PSNPs;
- Enhance effective and decent employment in public institutions particularly education and health sectors.

iii) Fill existing critical human resource gaps, particularly in Health & Education

The recent rapid expansion of government schools, colleges, universities, clinics and hospitals has created a major employment opportunity. However, this expansion is faced with a shortage of staff, especially in positions requiring higher levels of education, and foreign nationals are being employed to teach in universities and colleges. On the other hand, the quality of education and health services has shown a declining tendency, particularly in newly established public higher education institutions.

The following policy actions need to be pursued to address this critical human resource gap:

- Establish a regular consultation forum consisting of different stakeholders that work with government regulatory agencies/ departments to ensuring quality of education and health services since low quality education can seriously undermine the human resource development and competitiveness of the economy;
- Improve working conditions and salary rates to attract and retain staff in higher education and health institutions;
- Strengthen and expand post-graduate training in selected universities in order to supply qualified professionals to the rest of the colleges and universities.

2.3.3 Improving Labor Productivity (Supply Side of the Labor Market)

2.3.3.1 Raising Agricultural Labor Productivity

Rural poverty has remained high and persistent despite good performance of the agricultural sector and the low unemployment rate in recent years. The policy direction for reducing rural poverty in Ethiopia focuses more on raising rural income and labor productivity than on employment creation. Raising agricultural productivity generally hinges upon a blend of technical issues, economic issues, infrastructure and institutional development, and land tenure security. The following specific policy actions need to be pursued.

i) Inducing technological transformation, efficiency, and intensification

Though there is a growing trend in fertilizer use among Ethiopian farmers, the intensity of utilization of these inputs, especially improved seeds, is still considered to be very low. Fertilizer application without high yielding varieties may not bring the desired change in agricultural productivity.

The government needs to strengthen on-going measures to raise agricultural productivity which include technical change (adoption of a package of new technologies), more technical efficiency (better use of available technology) and technological intensification (more use of the available technology).

Agricultural extension services need to be streamlined to scale up better use of improved agricultural technologies. As the Ethiopian agriculture is mainly rain-fed, technological adoption should be complemented with development of irrigation facilities. In pastoral areas, raising agricultural productivity should be based on improved pasture and water development and animal health care.

ii) Improving Economic Incentives

Most intervention programs aimed at raising agricultural productivity attempts to increase yields without paying sufficient attention to economic incentives. However, productivity increases, (e.g., in some exceptionally good years) tend to lower prices and, consequently, the economic incentive to produce for the market could be at times undermined.

The government needs to further develop the agricultural marketing system for both inputs and outputs so as to allow farmers to operate in a competitive market environment. The main focus should be accelerating the transformation of subsistence agriculture into

commercial enterprise. This can be done through promoting the linkage of agricultural production to domestic, regional, and international markets.

Farmers need to be linked to markets, processors and exporters through schemes of contract farming and value chain development.

ii) Infrastructure and Institutional Development

The government will invest in infrastructure and develop market institutions. These shall cover such things as quality and standards, legal, information, financial, and risk management institutions, and reduction in transaction costs. Agribusinesses and farmers' organizations such as cooperatives shall be given special attention to better link farmers to markets and to enhance value addition in the supply chain.

The importance of market development has been recognized in Ethiopia's Five Year Development Plan entitled Plan for Accelerated and Sustained Development to End Poverty (PASDEP). The commodity exchange systems currently underway need to be scaled up to cover all relevant agricultural commodities potentially traded by mainstream farmers in Ethiopia.

Ongoing initiatives should be strengthened and measures have to be taken to ensure that all actors take part in the whole process. This includes farmers, input providers, processors and exporters.

iii) Land Tenure Security

While owning cultivable land is essential for the rural poor to produce agricultural products, maintaining and improving soil fertility and land quality is more important to improve agricultural productivity. The government needs to review the impact of the land certification program with a view to enhancing tenure security and encouraging long-term investment in terracing, irrigation structures, tree planting, etc.

Property rights and tenure security influence farmers' decisions regarding land management as well as quality improvement and productivity enhancing investments. The recent introduction of a land certification scheme is expected to improve the incentive to invest on land.

iv) Promoting Non-Farm Activities

The ability of the rural poor to engage in non-farm activities depends on the availability of five types of capital: human capital (personal knowledge and skills), social capital (networking and relationships), physical capital (transport and communication), financial capital (savings and credits) and natural capital (natural resource endowments such as land, forests, minerals, fisheries, etc). To enable the rural poor to benefit from non-farm activities, there needs to be an expansion in rural micro-finance institutions, training programs on business skills and expansion in rural infrastructure.

Actions should be taken to provide the poor with access to non-farm income generation and employment opportunities through improving, at least, their physical, financial and human capital.

Small market towns need to be developed in rural hinterlands to promote rural-urban linkages. The towns will serve as satellite stations to link rural economy and labor with opportunities in non-farm activities and major cities.

2.3.3.1.1 Strategies for Raising Agricultural Labor Productivity

To enhance labor productivity in agriculture and allied activities existing strategies need to be revitalized and new strategies devised. Two pathways out of poverty can be identified for rural areas. The first pathway consists of the move from low to high productivity farming. Such a shift can be achieved through agricultural intensification, i.e. via higher crop intensity, crop diversification into higher value crops, and more intensive application of agricultural inputs. This pathway also includes those individuals who exit poverty by gaining better paid employment on higher productivity private commercial farms. In this phase, labor is moving to a sector of higher productivity (for example, from low productivity subsistence agriculture to high productivity commercial agriculture, from low productivity non-farm enterprise to high productivity formal nonfarm enterprises), or from deploying previously unused productive resources. A sustainable and pro-poor growth of production and productivity will be achieved through intensification of smallholder agriculture and promotion of diversified and integrated farming of crops and livestock, crops and forestry, food and cash crops, irrigation and aquaculture, and traditional and non-traditional crops. This will be based on the comparative and competitive advantages of each region in the country.

In the second pathway, some persons may exit poverty because of increase in the productivity and profitability of their non-farm enterprises, or by finding better-paid employment in such enterprises (often more formal) owned by formal operators.

The following strategies need to be adopted if the intensification targets of PASDEP are to be achieved with the highest level of employment intensity and labor productivity:

i) Development and implementation of a special scheme to disseminate high yielding seed varieties on a sustainable basis

Given that the current focus on the public sector to multiply and distribute seed has not been effective, a more competitive seed sector with a strong regulatory system is necessary to improve labor productivity as well as to boost food and agricultural production.

ii) Implement support measures aimed at lowering the cost of input and irrigation

Limited use of fertilizer, improved seeds and other inputs is partly due to high cost following the removal of input subsidies in the 1990s. Rain-fed agriculture of the country allows only one production a year, compared to two or more harvests per year under irrigation. Government support, including input subsidy and investment in irrigation, will significantly increase input use and enhance the profitability of agricultural intensification.

iii) Adopt a pluralistic system in agricultural extension, business advisory services and training

The traditional system, which is based on the public sector alone, has not delivered the expected outcome so far. Advisory, extension and training services need to be provided on a competitive basis through government, private sector and civil society organizations in a more decentralized manner.

iv) Review the land certification scheme with the objective of strengthening the incentives to invest on land

A well-defined system of property rights needs to be put in place in order to encourage farmers' investment on land improvement, irrigation, tree crops and farmsteads.

v) Take urgent measures to strengthen inclusive institutions to give more protection, voice and support to smallholder farmers

The absence of strong interest groups and unions has limited farmers' participation in policies affecting agricultural and rural development. In order to ensure effective participation, and for a broader range of assets to thrive in rural areas, inclusive institutions such as national farmers' unions and associations of different commodity

groups need to be established. Dialogue with real stakeholders in formulating input support, investment and regulatory policies is a necessary condition for sustainable agricultural intensification.

vi) Promote the use of indigenous knowledge

Unleash the potentials for productivity growth using indigenous knowledge with proven age-old experiences and practices of farmers.

vii) Intensify efforts to promote productive employment by supporting cash crop production

For many farmers the transition from subsistence to commercial mode of production can be achieved by increasing the productivity and return to growing traditional and nontraditional cash crops. Horticultural crops for both domestic and export market offer a good opportunity to generate new employment and to increase income by many folds at the same time.

The following strategies deserve special considerations if the commercialization objectives of PASDEP are to be achieved with the highest level of employment intensity and creation of decent employment:

- Develop legal and regulatory and incentive schemes to promote contract farming and out-grower schemes: Smallholders have the opportunity of overcoming their constraints of technology, markets and finance by linking up with commercial farmers and processing farms. The legal and regulatory framework should be developed to enforce contract farming.
- Develop special commercialization schemes for small farmers in selected areas: Support and promote small farmers and their organizations to produce high standard cash and industrial crops for domestic and export markets. This can be done through improved and secured access to land and water, enhanced access to mechanical and biological technologies and knowledge, and improved access to markets and finance.

viii) Promote productive employment in livestock husbandry and poultry

Given the growing population pressure in many agricultural areas of the country, a shift to livestock and poultry is the most appropriate measure to increase labor productivity and income from a farmland that is getting smaller and smaller by the year. Dairy, poultry and fattening also provide the best opportunity for many young people to join the farming occupation and become productive workers. The following areas deserve special consideration if the livestock sector objectives of PASDEP are to be achieved with the highest level of employment intensity and decent employment:

- Develop and implement a special incentive scheme and regulatory system to promote private veterinary services to complement efforts by the public sector.
- Develop a more efficient veterinary service through the establishment of an enabling environment for private animal health providers and the promotion of effective public-private partnerships;
- Institute effective regulatory and inspection systems to ensure safety and quality at all levels of livestock production and on the marketing chain. Livestock producers in Ethiopia have difficulty accessing international markets due to diseases. The capacity of public laboratories needs to be developed to provide effective regulatory and inspection services;
- Take measures to establish dairy, beef, sheep, goat, fishery, beekeeping, poultry and pig producer associations in order to protect the interest of livestock producers. Improved access to veterinary care, grazing lands, feed, reliable water sources, good roads, breeding technologies and financial services cannot be guaranteed without direct participation of livestock producers.

ix. Improve the productivity of the pastoral community

The pastoral sub-sector is an important component of the rural livelihood in Ethiopia and it contributes a major share to the livestock population (cattle, sheep, and goat) of the country. Improving the productivity of the sector will be useful to the pastoral community and for the national economy as well. Given the growing importance of markets for livestock products, both nationally and globally, improving the productivity and market linkage of the livestock sector would be important for improving the livelihoods of the dependents of the sector. Improvement of grazing lands, provision of adequate watering points, improving veterinary services, developing infrastructure such as road, water canals, telephone and electricity, and value chain development for better market linkage are important. There needs to be a special focus towards commercializing the sector by promoting market linkages through value chain development initiatives. In addition, strengthening extension services and provision of social services such as education, training, and health care services in the pastoral areas of the country are necessary to enhance awareness, knowledge, and skill among community members.

x) Enhance support to urban and peri-urban agriculture

By virtue of better access to markets and information, urban and peri-urban agriculture offers the advantage of better income generation to urban youth. This type of agriculture

needs to specialize in fattening, dairy, poultry, and vegetable production activities. They can produce high demand products for the markets in the urban areas, by using only small plots of land. Urban and peri-urban agricultural activities can be established with relatively small capital and the products can secure markets in the urban centers. A concerted municipal level support shall be needed to promote the development of such activities.

Measures required promoting the size and quality of employment include:

- > Identifying and demarcating areas for urban and peri-urban agriculture;
- Developing guidelines and support measures to promote and ensure the safety and quality of food produced in urban and peri-urban areas.
- > Take the necessary steps to establish associations of urban and peri-urban farmers.

xi) Promote value addition in the supply chain

The value chain for most agricultural products in Ethiopia is very short, with little or no value addition in the system. The distribution network is characterized by long and fragmented marketing chains that add very little value and hence employment. High risks of coordination failure, coupled with high transport and transaction costs, do not encourage complementary and simultaneous investment by input suppliers, transporters, traders, financiers and farmers. Developing the value chain from input supplier to consumers will create enormous opportunities for productive employment.

The following actions are proposed to create remunerative jobs along the supply chain:

- Design and implement incentive schemes to attract private investment, including FDI. The objective is to stimulate investment in processing of agricultural products and delivering agricultural inputs, finance, technology and advisory services;
- Develop acceptable quality standards of primary materials needed by processors. This includes greater attention and investment of resources to conduct research into the collection, selection, propagation and pre-processing of suitable cultivators specifically for agro-processing;
- Provide technical and financial support to empower agri-businesses. Associations of processors, exporters and traders should be supported to develop adequate capacity to become more effective participants in the development of supply chain and value addition in Ethiopia.

xii) Take measures to accelerate non-farm employment

The PASDEP considers rural non-farm activities as one of the key interventions to attain food security. Non-farm employment can contribute to poverty reduction through offsetting fluctuations in farm incomes, overcoming credit and risk constraints on agricultural innovation, and providing productive employment for the landless households. However, the non-farm sector should also develop into a major employment sector by integrating poor people into the labor market. Engagement of the rural women and youth in productive non-farm activities and rural wage employment needs to be developed into a viable strategy for both income generation and equity purposes. Such programs also contribute towards reducing rural-urban migration that arises owing to problems related to land fragmentation and low agricultural productivity in the rural areas. Growth in agricultural surpluses is expected to encourage upstream and downstream non-farm activities.

Establishing associations of rural weavers, blacksmiths, traders, and processors is also essential in an effort to promote rural non-farm activities.

2.3.3.2 Raising Productivity of the Non-farm Private and Informal Sector

Along with the farm and the public sector, the non-farm private and informal sectors provide employment opportunities for the bulk of the labor force in Ethiopia. Studies indicate that the informal sector on average accounts for 71% of urban employment in Ethiopia. Thus, raising labor productivity in the non-farm private and informal sectors will be of paramount importance to the employees in these sectors in terms of increasing their incomes to address the problem of working poor.

The non-farm private sector such as industry and services can provide productive employment opportunities if the skill level of the labor force is enhanced and there by contribute to productivity and competitiveness of these sectors both locally and globally. Labor productivity in these sectors could mainly be enhanced by aligning formal education programs to the practical skill needs of the country.

Though the number of technical and vocational schools has increased considerably in Ethiopia in recent years, leading to several fold increase in the number of university and technical school graduates, employment opportunities, especially in the formal private sector, have not kept pace with increasing number of graduates. The problem is compounded by a lower quality of education and skill mismatches.

The following specific interventions are proposed to address this problem:

- Undertake regular labor market surveys with the objective of assisting universities and technical schools to align their education and training programs to the skill needs of the labor market;
- Take measures to further empower the Higher Education Relevance and Quality Agency (HERQA) to enforce higher education quality standards;
- Integrate the informal sector in to the mainstream formal private sector through building /enhancing their capacities and strengthening their linkages with the latter through the value chain system.

A positive impact on the welfare of informal sector employees can be achieved through promoting a supportive policy environment together with the improvement of access, skills, and technologies. This will also enhance their productivity and competitiveness. Raising labor productivity of the informal sector calls for improving access to basic resources such as land, finance, markets, and infrastructure; training services on production, marketing, and business skills and the provision of social protection. But to be able to compete with the formal sector and imports, the informal sector needs to be endowed with technological innovation and modernization. It is only knowledge-based technology, organization and information that can improve the quality and competitiveness of products and services produced by the small and medium enterprises (SMEs) which in large part constitute the so called informal sector.

In addition to improving access to basic resources and institutional support, the government should support informal sector operators to access new technologies including Information and Communication Technology (ICT) and access to improved manufacturing and processing techniques.

Thus, public institutions such as the Federal Micro and Small Enterprises Development Agency and its regional state counterparts should be supported to be able to create awareness about sources of technology and develop capacity for technology evaluation and demonstration.

2.3.3.2.1 Strategies for Raising Productivity of the non-farm private and Informal Sector

The ultimate goal is to address the dichotomy of formal versus informal in the business landscape of the country outside of the public sector. That is, to integrate the informal sector in to the mainstream non-farm modern private sector. Thus, the strategies proposed to address gaps with in the informal sector indirectly addresses gaps in labor productivity in the modern non-farm private sector.

Accordingly, the following specific strategies have been identified in support of the informal sector:

i) Development of clear guidelines for the operation of the informal sector

Though a strong presence of the informal sector may negatively influence the performance of the formal sector, informal sector activities (especially those with considerable employment intensity) should be supported with clear guidelines regarding government actions and regulations. The purpose of guidelines is to address business uncertainties and ensure confidence and freedom of operation, with positive outcomes on employment and income generation opportunities for operators and employees of the informal sector.

ii) Skill development

As most of the operators of the informal sector have limited human capital or marketable skill, the government needs to provide training and other business support services to improve their skills. Training should focus on basic and functional skills of production, marketing, and asset management including financial assets. Given the rapidly changing economic scenario owing to globalization and the Information and Communication Technology (ICT) revolution, training programs should include computer skills, internet skills and e-commerce lessons.

iii) Access to working premises

Access to land and associated time and cost of land related transactions have been identified as one of the key constraints to growth by both the formal and informal components of the private sector. Building rents and lease prices have skyrocketed in recent years. Informal sector operators and most of the small formal business owners have no chance of accessing land through auctions, which are irregular and extremely expensive. Appropriate policy measures should be taken to improve the availability of land and business premises at affordable prices and with reduced transaction costs.

iv) Access to finance

There are about 25 licensed micro-finance institutions (MFIs) in Ethiopia but most of them are small and with limited coverage and out reach. Many small and growing businesses also need slightly larger and longer term loans than those typically provided

by MFIs. Formal financial institutions (banks) in Ethiopia are unwilling to advance loans to informal sector participants for lack of credit worthiness and because of high unit transaction costs.

But given their role in employment generation for majority of the poor, top priority should be given to development of micro-finance institutions to broaden their reach and improve access to commercial credit, together with appropriate mechanisms of loan provision and collection. It should be noted that some countries have regulations which require commercial banks to allocate a certain percentage of their total bank credit to priority sectors comprising agriculture, small scale industries and services (e.g., in India the share is 40%).

In this regard, new services such as working capital term loan, foreign exchange services, technology development and modernization fund needs to be introduced.

v) Establishment of associations

The government should support the establishment of associations to facilitate efficient and effective support and services delivery, promote partnership and coordination among members, enable them better solve their problems by themselves and protect their rights. Organizing informal sector operators through various types of associations will also make identification, targeting, and support and service delivery easier.

vi) Ensuring decent working conditions

Informal sector operators are not protected by public labor law or by provisions of labor unions. As such, they are not so far enjoying the privileges of decent work conditions and they are mostly disadvantaged in this regard. This is partly because of the difficulty of providing labor extension services to the informal economy & regulating the working conditions of the same and partly due to lack of established rules and regulations of the sector. Legislation has to be provided to ensure the protection of informal economy operators and their employees. This legislation needs to include recognizing informal activities and protecting the working rights of those engaged in the informal economy, providing necessary facilities, such as working spaces, organizing employees and allowing them to participate in different socio-economic affairs through their representatives. Awareness creation among the public with regard to decent work conditions and basic human rights should be supported to help protect the informal economy employees from unfair treatment.

2.3.4 Strengthening Labor Market Institutions, Improving Labor Administration and Labor Market Services

Labor market institutions include government bodies such as the Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs and its regional counterparts, labor courts, trade unions and employers' associations. Such organizations are responsible for protecting the interests of workers based on standards and regulations related to employment, wage payments, benefits, promotion and other issues.

However, the scope of such institutional provisions and protections has been confined in most part only to public enterprises and some private sector employees. There is no protection for those engaged in the informal sector and subsistence farming. Public and private employment services are too weak to provide even basic services such as giving information to jobseekers and employers.

All workers in the formal sector, both public and private, should be supported to form more effective unions. Formal sector employers need to be further encouraged to join existing employers' organization and participate in social dialogue.

Appropriate institutions should be established for the protection of informal sector employees. Organizations need to be established by informal sector workers to represent them in different social and economic policy making arenas. Appropriate mechanisms need to be devised for proper representation of the interests of informal sector employees in the existing labor unions.

The rights of informal sector employees may be secured through extending the scope of existing legislation for public sector employees (with necessary modifications), promoting collective bargaining agreements, enforcing labor standards, promoting equitable policies for formal and informal enterprises and devising mechanisms and institutions to ensure wider coverage.

The capacity of Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs (MOLSA) at federal level and its regional state counter parts, Bureaus of Labor and Social Affairs (BOLSAs) at regional levels, should be enhanced to provide active labor market services that target the youth, women and poor households involved in agriculture, rural non-farm activities and the informal sector alike. This should include provision of a combination of integrated employment services that involve, amongst other things, counseling, placement assistance, job matching, technical support to unions and associations, and the preparation and dissemination of the results of labor market surveys.

Moreover, a more employable skill-base needs to be created through integrated vocational training programs that link firms' needs with the educational and training system.

The government should support efforts aimed at strengthening and establishing labor market institutions.

2.3.4.1 Strategies for Improving Labor Administration and Strengthening Labor Market Institutions

The institutions established to govern labor markets in Ethiopia are underdeveloped. Not much has been done by way of promoting the fundamental rights of workers and ensuring workers' security, freedom of association, equity and human dignity. The existing labor regulations and institutional services do not apply to the informal economy. Most of the fundamental elements of decent work are not recognized among wage workers in the private sector. Minimum wage does not apply to the majority of the unskilled workers in the formal sectors as well.

Government institutions need to work closely with trade unions, associations of business operators, women and youth groups, and employers' associations to address existing problems in labor legislations and administrations. Minimum wages should be set for employees of the private sector as well. The following strategies have been identified to enhance workers' right and interest:

i) Ensure labor protection and decent working conditions

Most wage jobs are insecure and temporary and self-employment is not remunerative. There is a need for government intervention in the labor market to protect workers from unfair treatment and safeguard the basic rights and interests of workers. But it is also recognized that too much protection can discourage labor demand by increasing the cost of firing and imposing unnecessary restriction on temporary contracts.

Policies and regulations that promote pro-poor growth are more likely to be successful if they are developed and implemented through broad-based dialogue and participation involving the different parts of society and including the working poor. The labor market will be protected while ensuring labor market flexibility and employment security. Some of the strategy areas to ensure labor protection and decent working conditions are:

Institute a system for a periodic review of minimum wage rates and upgrade the rates in line with inflation rates and market wage rates.

- Develop institutional arrangements that will ensure wider coverage and better implementation and compliance with the minimum wage
- Build the capacity of MOLSA and BOLSAs to inspect working conditions in different industries and to enforce safety and acceptable standards.
- Institute an affirmative action approach so that a specified proportion of beneficiaries of formal sector employment (particularly public sector) are women.

ii) Improving labor market services

In this regard, the MOLSA and its regional counter parts (BOLSAs) need to adopt the following specific strategies:

- Properly manage labor issues by issuing directives on labor standards, occupational health and safety, etc
- Register labor organizations and provide technical and advisory assistance to trade unions
- > Facilitate and assist settlement of disputes in an efficient manner
- Coordinate the conduct of studies on labor force and unemployment and employment status on a regular basis
- Collect, compile and disseminate information on the labor force and on occupational safety and health of workers.

Besides discharging their existing responsibilities, the MOLSA and its regional state counterparts need to adopt the following strategies so as to be able provide more effective and efficient labor market services to the general public:

- Establish job centers that take 'the role not of an administrator but of a job consultant or employment advisor'. Informal mechanisms such as personal networks are common ways of recruitment in Ethiopia. As a result, employers are not always able to attract the most qualified and most suitable staff. At the same time, qualified people do not find an adequate job if they lack the necessary network contacts. The MOLSA and BOLSAs can run public job centers while private firms do run their own job centers;
- Develop support and regulatory systems to expand the capacity of private job centers catering to domestic and overseas market;
- Forge partnership with higher learning and training institutions (colleges and universities). The objective is to ensure that training institutions provide the right skills,) ensure reintegration of the unemployed into the labor market and promote the reallocation of labor which is made necessary by structural change or geographical, occupational, and skill mismatches;

- Develop and disseminate labor market indicators on a regular basis (preferably annually or even semi-annually) in line with the frequency of surveys that generate relevant labor market information to the general public;
- Provide active labor market services: Active labor market services are necessary to improve labor skill and productivity (supply side), to provide wage subsidies (demand side), and to improve job search efficiency. By so doing, provision of active labor market services would promote productive employment. However, the budgetary implications of active labor market services are considerable and also such programs cannot be expected to replace the role of overall labor intensive economic growth.

iii) Support the formation of unions and associations of the self-employed, including the informal sector

In the absence of interest and advocacy groups that stand to protect and articulate the interest of farmers and informal sector operators, the objective of poverty alleviation cannot be met. The bargaining power of small farmers and informal sector workers in the market place has been weak since they are not organized. Hence, internal terms of trade often stand against the farmers, self-employed and informal sector workers.

Given that these groups account for the bulk of the population, their voices need to be heard and support programs need to be devised pertaining to agriculture and the informal sector. The following strategies need to be adopted by way of addressing such a challenge:

- Provide technical, institutional and policy support for the establishment of farmer unions and associations at national and local levels;
- Provide technical, institutional and policy support for the formation of associations of informal sector operators in urban and rural areas.

2.3.5 Cross-cutting Issues: Policy Actions Areas and Strategies

2.3.5.1 Achieving a Demographic Transition

Structural transformation to accelerate growth, create employment and reduce poverty requires reducing the rate of population growth in line with real GDP growth rate so that per capita income increases faster. High population growth has contributed to increased youth unemployment, especially in urban areas through inducing rural-urban migration. The experience of countries that have made significant gains in achieving a demographic transition shows the importance of strong economic performance accompanied by better education and access to health and socio-cultural change have been crucial to their success.

2.3.5.1.1 Strategies for Achieving Demographic Transition

Besides enhancing economic performance, the government should take measures to reduce fertility rate. This would include increasing the age at which women have their first child by enacting and enforcing marriage laws, increasing education and employment opportunities for women and girls to empower them to be more involved in marriage and child bearing decisions. It should also take action to reduce unintended births by meeting the demand for contraceptives.

2.3.5.2 Addressing the Employment Challenges of Globalization

Globalization opens up opportunities for the inflow of Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) and thus for employment opportunities domestically. However, if such FDI destabilizes domestic firms as a result of strong competition, the employment creating impact is offset with the possibility of negative net employment. The government should support efforts aimed at harnessing opportunities from globalization through taking measures for enhanced productivity growth, further improvement in infrastructure and instituting sound industrial policies. The benefits of globalization to employment creation and poverty reduction depend, to a large extent, on the nature of foreign direct investment, traded products, and the competitiveness of firms.

2.3.5.2.1 Strategies for Addressing the Employment Challenges of Globalization

The world is characterized by a lack of institutions and regulatory system to effectively manage the effects of globalization. This is because the negative consequence of globalization in terms of eroding employment opportunities in developing countries is believed to be very high.

Under such circumstances, it may be useful to establish and strengthen code of conduct and standards at national level to better manage the activities of global actors and to set conditions to systematically protect employment through regularly monitoring employment outcomes. In addition, raising the skill and productivity level of the labor force through strategies outlined in Section 2.4.3 helps to improve the competitiveness of the local labor force. Enhancing communication skills of the labor force through acquainting them with global business languages such as English and languages of other emerging economies such as Chinese, Japanese and Arabic languages and computer literacy, and improved working culture are relevant instruments to raise the attractiveness of the local labor force to global companies and investors. Maintaining and improving health conditions of the labor force is also an important aspect of rendering the labor force competitive.

2.3.5.3 Protecting the Rights of Migrant Workers

In recent years, there has been an increase in unskilled migrant workers from Ethiopia in search of employment particularly to the Middle East & South Africa. Such labor mobility has served to ease the unemployment pressure to some extent.

Globalization has also become a major driving force for international labor mobility. But employment opportunities particularly for young female migrant workers to the Middle East are largely limited to domestic work. Being confined to private homes, they work long hours for low wages under difficult conditions and are often subject to abuse and exploitation. Thus, proper enforcement of the provisions of the existing Employment Exchange Service Proclamation 632/2009 shall significantly contribute towards protecting the rights of migrant workers.

2.3.5.3.1 Strategies for protecting the rights of Migrant Workers

To enhance employment opportunities through protecting the rights of migrant workers, the following activities are important:

- Provision of information and awareness creation about the country of destination: lack of information and awareness among migrant workers, especially illegal migrants, about destinations, working conditions, and benefits might be misleading in most instances, leading to uninformed decisions on the part of migrants. Mostly, such migrants end up in precarious situations. Hence, provision of appropriate labor market service and awareness creation among migrant workers before they leave the country in a coordinated and structured manner is extremely essential;
- Regulating private employment service provision: Private employment service providers involved in labor trafficking need to be legally registered and recognized for the job. In any event of misconduct, they need to be held accountable for their actions;
- Establishment of Centers for Labor Market Information: The MOLSA and BOLSAs need to establish service centers for migrant workers that shall provide essential labor market information about the country of destination.

2.3.5.4 Addressing Rural-Urban Migration

Rural-urban migration constitutes a major form of internal labor migration in Ethiopia. The push factors for rural-urban migration include pressure on land (land fragmentation), environmental degradation, and poverty which aggravate temporary and permanent migration to urban areas in search of employment and other income generation opportunities. The profile of rural-urban migrants is characterized mostly by uneducated and low skilled individuals at their prime age for employment. Such migrants are mostly destined to informal employment activities in the urban areas and add to the problem of underemployment, competition for employment, and working poor, without institutional protection and recognition.

Indeed, if supported with policies and institutional services, internal migration can contribute to growth and poverty reduction, by allowing more efficient resource allocation both geographically and across sectors, by promoting structural transformation and enhancing synergies in the economy. Given the importance of the push factors for rural-urban migration and the emphasis attached to employment creation in urban areas(as articulated in the country's Five Year Development Plan-PASDEP), through promoting the growth of small towns , a coherent strategy needs to be devised to accommodate the issue of rural-urban migration in Ethiopia.

2.3.5.4.1 Strategies to Address Rural-Urban Migration

Strategies for addressing the problem of rural-urban migration should be broader aimed at addressing both the push and pull factors. These may include:

- Promoting agricultural diversification and rural transformation: Promoting rural development delivers useful results in terms of reducing the push factors that force migrants to flow to urban areas. Pressure on land (land fragmentation), fragile agro-ecology, low productivity, poor infrastructure and communication, lack or absence of basic services such as education and health and saving and credit all compound to threaten rural livelihoods and force youth farmers to migrate to urban areas in search of opportunities. Thus, further strengthening and promoting the on-going rural non-farm activities and diversification on smallholder farms in the country will contribute significantly towards reducing rural-urban migration.
- Rural demographic transition: Although fertility rate is generally high in Ethiopia, it is higher in rural than urban areas in relative terms. Continuing trend of high fertility and population growth in the country will contribute to and exacerbate the existing problem of high population density in rural areas and the pressure on land (land fragmentation) which is believed to be the major factor aggravating rural-urban migration. It is, therefore, necessary to reduce rural fertility and ensure demographic transition through improved family planning services and promoting women education.
- Promoting non-farm employment and income generation and strengthening ruralurban linkages: The search for employment and income generation opportunities has been one of the most important push factors resulting in the influx of rural-urban

migration in Ethiopia. This problem could be partly addressed through promoting non-farm employment through the expansion of micro and small enterprises linked to agricultural activities. Overall agricultural and rural development, development of small urban centers as growth poles, and strengthening rural-urban linkages contribute to non-farm employment and income generation opportunities.

Information, service, and institutional protection for migrants: More often, ruralurban migration is spontaneous and has not been amenable to support with information and other institutional services about job opportunities, terms of employment, and benefits and wages. Thus, providing institutional information and other services support to migrants through BoLSA is expected to contribute positively towards creating decent jobs for migrant workers.

2.3.5.5 HIV/AIDS and the Work Place

Though HIV/AIDS prevalence rate is on the decline in Ethiopia in recent years, it still remains a threat to economic development and poverty reduction efforts as it affects the working age population. The consequences of the pandemic in terms of loss in employment and productivity are particularly high among women. Women also share the highest burden in caring for HIV/AIDS victims and patients at family level. This is an additional burden costing them their ability to search for jobs, to stay on jobs, and to learn and improve their skills. Therefore, the government, in collaboration with development partners and NGOs, should continue providing anti-retroviral therapy (ART) and prophylactic therapy. Nutrition should also constitute a key element in the strategy of managing the pandemic.

2.3.5.5.1 Strategies for HIV/AIDS and the Work Place

The strategy to improve the employment opportunities and employment outcomes of persons living with HIV/AIDS should focus on awareness creation among co-workers and the public at large and also to recognize the working and living rights of HIV/AIDS victims. In addition to allowing and integrating them to benefit from employment opportunities, avoiding stigma and discrimination against HIV/AIDS victims helps to reduce the spread of the pandemic. Along with these, encouraging the victims to maintain their productivity and skill levels so that their marginal productivity does not decline would be of paramount importance. This should be supported through protecting them in work places and providing them with access to medical services and through improved nutrition.

2.3.5.6 Mainstreaming Gender in Employment Generation

Currently, there are encouraging trends in Ethiopia with regard to female participation in education and the labor force. However, women representation in the formal sector and in professional and white-collar jobs is not comparable with that of men.

Women's participation rate being 13 percentage point lower than men's (75% versus 88% in 2005), unemployment and underemployment are more prevalent among women than men. As noted earlier, it is also true that more of the employed women are concentrated in the informal economy. Thus, poverty reduction hinges on addressing the specific constraints facing women in the labor market. To deliver successful results in terms of improving women's labor force participation and improve their presence in the formal sector, the government should focus on skill development, access to productive resources and social and economic protection through institutional support.

2.3.5.6.1 Strategies for Mainstreaming Gender in Employment Generation

The women-focused employment mainstreaming strategies identified include the following:

- Enforcing affirmative actions in such a way that a specified proportion of beneficiaries of mainstream programs and projects are women;
- Coordinating efforts to encourage institutions to target women as beneficiaries of skill and business development programs as well as schemes aimed at improving access to resources;
- Encouraging gender-friendly appropriate technology to reduce the drudgery of women's domestic and economic activity and enhance their productivity and incomes and as a result their income earning capacities;
- > Facilitating the establishment of child-care centers for young working mothers.

2.3.5.7 Enhancing Youth Employment

The structure of the population of Ethiopia shows that it is predominantly youth population and this will continue to be the case during medium-term. The Ethiopian youth constitute the bulk of urban unemployment and accounts for the largest proportion of both international and internal migration particularly rural-urban migration.

The reasons for youth unemployment include limited expansion of formal employment opportunities, rapid population growth, rapid rural-urban migration and inadequate school curricula and poor quality education which do not meet the requirements of the labor market. Large-scale unemployment among the youth has given rise to "street youth" in Africa. The situation is not different in Ethiopia. The problem has also encouraged emigration where job opportunities and returns are better. Among young women, lack of employment opportunities has aggravated prostitution as a means of survival.

The government should take measures to improve the quality of education and Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET), support the creation of quality jobs in the formal and informal sectors, foster entrepreneurship and empowerment of youth, and facilitate their entry into business and promote youth employment strategies that enhance youth mobility and employment.

2.3.5.7.1 Strategies for Enhancing Youth Employment

The youth-focused employment mainstreaming strategies identified include the following:

- Improving the quality of education and Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVETs);
- Further enhance the implementation of the on-going youth package in a more structured manner;
- Supporting the creation of quality jobs in the formal and informal sectors;
- > Fostering entrepreneurship and empowerment of youth
- Facilitating youth entry into business and promoting additional youth employmentintensive initiatives that enhance youth mobility and employment.

2.3.5.8 Promoting Employment Opportunities for People with Disabilities

According to existing studies, the number of persons with disabilities is estimated to be around 7.6% in Ethiopia as recent as 2006. Though persons with disabilities are impaired to performing some functions; they are not completely unproductive and dependent. There are indications that persons with disabilities face discrimination both in the formal and informal sectors. Given their special physical conditions, persons with disabilities are believed to face special challenges in getting employed in the modern private sector. These constraints limit labor market participation of persons with disabilities, and there by, their income earning opportunities. As a result, unemployment is widespread among persons with disabilities and their chance to come out of poverty has been impaired by such constraining factors. The government needs to enforce institutional protection and equal employment opportunities to persons with disabilities to promote their participation in labor markets to the extent that their conditions allow. Improved access to education

and employment should also be among the major government interventions aimed at empowering persons with disabilities.

2.3.5.8.1 Strategies for Promoting Employment Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities

The conditions of persons with disabilities may hinder them from acquiring the necessary skills to join the formal job sector competitively, accessing information on employment opportunities, and winning competitions for employment. As such, strategies towards protecting persons with disabilities may need to address issues starting from skill development to employment service provision. These include the following:

- Improving and expanding training and other skill development services suited to the special needs of persons with disabilities
- Supporting people with disability to start their own business, for it is often difficult for them to penetrate the formal private sector
- Supporting and promoting associations of persons with disabilities so that they become better represented in different forums and their voices be heard
- Providing special active labor market services for persons with disabilities in a manner suitable to their conditions
- Providing better access to credit facilities
- Promoting and making the formal private sector community aware and sensitive to the causes of persons with disabilities

2.3.5.9 Protecting Children against Child Labor

Enforcement of laws prohibiting child labor has still remained to be a major challenge in Ethiopia. Because of poverty, inadequate access to education and lack of awareness, children as young as 5 years old actively work for low wages in family farms, informal businesses and even at times in the formal sector.

In addition to issuing more effective legislations, the government should take actions such as increasing access to good schooling, making schooling compulsory, providing school meals, increasing adult wages and improving farm productivity and income to protect children. Making schooling compulsory is very effective since it is easier to address problems associated with child labor.

2.3.5.9.1 Strategy for Protecting Children against Child Labor Exploitation

The major factors contributing to child labor are believed to be household poverty, family disintegration and loss of parents due to various reasons. A general approach with wider

impacts in terms of reducing child labor incidence and protecting children from child labor exploitation, though difficult and time taking, is household poverty reduction. In this regard, the observed trends in the country in terms of poverty reduction would positively contribute to mitigating incidence of child labor. Special support in terms of income generating opportunities to women headed households and poor families with large number of children will contribute towards reducing the incidence of child labor among such families. While addressing the push factors is relevant through appropriate social policies, the pull factors should also be discouraged using instruments such as awareness creation, provision of legal instruments, and sanctioning and discriminating against the production and consumption of products known to be produced by children.

Yet, children might be forced to work for their very survival, both outside their family and for their family. In such a context, sanctioning and discriminating against products produced by children would be damaging to children, instead of benefiting them. Rather, keeping a balance between allowing children to work under decent conditions for income generation to fulfill their basic needs and supporting them in terms of schooling and skill development for their latter life would be more appropriate and realistic.

2.3.5.10 Environmental Protection and Natural Resource Management

Climate change and resource degradation have had direct bearings on the level and sustainability of income generated from agriculture and, hence, employment in agriculture. In Ethiopia, land remains an important resource supporting agriculture as the mainstay of the economy. Consequently, continued land degradation and over-utilization owing to mounting population pressure, especially in the central highland areas, will pre-empt growth of agricultural productivity with implications on the income generation capacity and food security status of the agricultural population.

Similarly, climate change, manifested in many forms including flooding, drought, and storms, poses potential and real threat to mankind. These environmental problems have direct and profound impacts on agriculture and its dependents, including declining agricultural productivity and livelihood vulnerability to continuous weather shocks.

Land degradation due to high population density in rural areas and the emerging trends of adverse climate change (mainly drought) may contribute to growing rural-urban migration and displacement patterns of people. Although the poverty impacts of rural-urban migration could be positive and desirable in the long-run, the short-term impacts of such forced displacement are considerable, making it necessary to put emphasis on environment protection and resource conservation practices.

2.3.5.10.1 Strategies for Environmental Protection and Natural Resource Management

Ethiopia has adopted a National Environmental Policy and Strategy. Overall, implementing the provisions of such policy and strategy will be essential in terms of managing natural resources, including land and water as important agricultural resources, and contributing to the global effort to protect the environment.

Programs and interventions aimed at rural livelihood protection contribute to mitigate the adverse effects of climate change and resource degradation on rural employment and urban unemployment.⁷ Developing adaptation mechanisms to climate change impacts, including the development of weather insurance system in rural areas, is relevant to make sure that the adverse impacts of climate change and resource degradation are minimized. Moreover, maintaining the operation of social safety net programs in the event of negative weather shocks will be useful to protect loss of asset by rural people.

⁷ Displacement of rural population due to livelihood vulnerability is often followed by rural-urban migration, which contributes to the problem urban unemployment.

PART THREE

Institutional Framework for Policy Implementation, Monitoring and Evaluation



3.1 Institutional Framework for Policy Implementation

Successful implementation of the National Employment Policy and Strategy calls for coordinated action among pertinent government institutions, and non-government stakeholders. Employment being a broad-based and multi-sectoral issue, the National Employment Policy and Strategy is to be implemented by different ministries, bodies and agencies of the government, both at the Federal and regional state levels. Besides, non-government actors at all levels of administration also play important complimentary roles in the course of implementation of the National Employment Policy and Strategy through providing different support services.

Given the policies and strategies articulated in **Part Two** above, their implementation and monitoring and evaluation calls for institutional coordination and follow up. For such a coordinated implementation and oversight on employment outcomes, an institutional mechanism needs to be put in place. This calls for the establishment of a National Employment Council (NEC) as described in detail below:

3.1.1 National Employment Council (NEC)

National Employment Council (NEC) shall be established at national level to guide and coordinate the overall implementation of employment policies and strategies by different stakeholders. The main tasks of the NEC are: Ensuring mainstreaming of the National Employment Policy and Strategy across different macro-economic and sectoral policies and growth strategies of the country as well as instituting a broad and multi-sectoral implementation, coordination and monitoring mechanisms. The Council shall also serve as an advisory body to the government on issues pertaining to employment and pro-poor growth policies.

The National Employment Council shall consist of higher officials of the following pertinent federal and regional executive bodies and shall be chaired by the Minister of Labor and Social Affairs (MOLSA):

The Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs The Ministry of Finance and Economic Development; The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development; The Ministry of Capacity Building; The Ministry of Education; The Ministry of Federal Affairs; The Ministry of Foreign Affairs; The Ministry of Health; The Ministry of Justice; The Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs; The Ministry of Mines and Energy; The Ministry of Science and Technology; The Ministry of Trade and Industry; The Ministry of Transport and Communication; The Ministry of Women's Affairs; The Ministry of Works and Urban Development; The Ministry of Youth and Sports; The Central Statistical Agency; The Bureaus of Finance and Economic Development of Regional States and City Administrations: The Bureaus of Labor and Social Affairs of Regional States and City Administrations; The Confederation of Ethiopian Trade Unions (CETU); The Ethiopian Employers' Federation (EEF); Higher Education Institutions; and The Ethiopian Chamber of Commerce.

Besides, it is also necessary to include representatives of farmers and SMEs/informal sector.

The specific tasks of the National Employment Council (NEC) shall include:

- a) Ensuring mainstreaming of the National Employment Policy and Strategy into national development plans and strategies;
- b) Follow up implementation of the specific policies and strategies through devising standard implementation and monitoring mechanisms;

- c) Ensuring coordination among different stakeholders both within and outside of government;
- d) Revision the provisions of the NEPS as deemed necessary. This may include prioritizing, sequencing, and addition and/or deletion of particular aspect of the NEPS.

The NEC shall be assisted by a Secretariat to be housed under the Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs (MOLSA) in running its regular activities. Adequate budgetary resources and a core full-time staff shall be dedicated to the secretariat for it to function effectively.

3.2 Monitoring & Evaluation of Policy Outcomes

Progress in the implementation of the NEPS needs to be tracked and monitored on a regular basis to provide feedback to policy makers and planners through the National Employment Council. Such feedback information is of paramount importance for those concerned institutions responsible for the implementation of the strategies. Identification of the problems in a situation where strategies are not implemented as desired helps to devise appropriate mechanisms to address implementation gaps. To this end, a monitoring framework should be devised by respective authorities responsible for the implementation of the NEPS.

The monitoring and evaluation system needs to be consistent and be an integral part of the national monitoring and evaluation system (PASDEP). The various sectoral and cross-sectoral monitoring and evaluation systems are going to be the basic sources of information for implementing bodies. The Ministry of Finance and Economic Development (MOFED) is a clearing house for the PASDEP monitoring and evaluation system.

A typical monitoring scheme should stipulate the key information needs (i.e., what information is required concerning specific policy and strategy implementation), responsible departments for gathering and analyzing the necessary data to produce the required information, the frequency of data collection and reporting, etc. Notwithstanding the peculiarities of sectoral monitoring and evaluation systems, the MOLSA should strive to develop its own M&E system through adequately interfacing with the various sectoral M&E systems. The Secretariat at MOLSA needs to formalize a tripartite information exchange mechanism involving all line ministries, the MOFED and the CSA. The MOFED as a clearing house can provide refined macro level socio-economic information across all sectors through its annual plan implementation reports. This can be complemented by primary information from censuses and surveys by the CSA and administratively generated employment related information from line ministries. The

information/data from line ministries is expected to be nationally representative through consolidation including data generated by their regional state counter parts.

The purpose of NEPS is to bring about positive outcomes in terms of productive employment and poverty reduction. The resulting impacts of the NEPS needs to be assessed through selected outcome indicators to judge its effectiveness in addressing the unemployment, underemployment, and poverty agendas of the country.

Standard impact assessment schemes require acquiring information on the baseline situation to be used as a benchmark against which the post-intervention outcomes are evaluated. The assessment needs to be made on the basis of key employment indicators (parameters) that are selected based on their relevance as indicators of productive employment and poverty reduction outcomes. The following indicators have been identified to be used in the assessment of policy outcomes:

- a) Labor force growth and participation rates by gender, regional states and city administrations, urban versus rural, etc;
- b) Unemployment level and rate by age, educational level, urban versus rural, etc.
- c) Additional jobs generated and employment rates in agriculture, industry and services (with distinct and specific information on employment and income from farm and non-farm activities)
- d) Rates of underemployment and the size of the informal sector(number of informal sector operators and employed persons)
- e) Youth employment and unemployment rates;
- Rates of gender disparities in the labor market (employed women and men by sector) along with incomes generated;
- g) Number, origin (which part of the country they originate from) and educational status of migrant workers by countries of destination;
- h) Size of employment by Government, Public Enterprises, Private Companies, NGOs/Donors, SMEs and Self Employment;
- i) Wage Rates and Salaries per month (Government Employees, Public Enterprises, Private Companies, NGOs/Donors, Family owned business and SMEs);
- j) Productivity rates (Value Added per worker, out put per worker, etc) across industries;
- k) Poverty Rates (Head Count, Poverty Gap and Poverty Severity) among white collar and other workers;
- 1) Information on disability, their participation rates, their employment/unemployment status;
- m) Information on occupational structure;

- n) Trends in additional employment generation by labor intensive fast growing sectors such as textiles, food and leather industries;
- o) Rates of child labor across sectors.

The Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs (MOLSA) needs to work closely with the Central Statistical Agency along with the BOLSAs to undertake periodic surveys to assess changes on the above indicators.

The Secretariat shall be responsible to oversee the Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) activities that is supposed to generate the indicators outlined above on a regular basis (annually or every five years depending on the frequency of the surveys that generate such indicators). The Secretariat shall be adequately resourced in terms of human power, budget, and other necessary facilities. The Secretariat at MOLSA needs to work in close collaboration with the CSA and other relevant federal and regional bodies that generate employment related administrative information. The Secretariat is ultimately responsible for compilation and dissemination of employment related information through its annual reports. The report needs to cover the aforementioned indicators as they are made available to MOLSA from their original sources.

3. 3 Policy Implementation Modality

Following discussions at the Cabinet and ultimately its adoption, implementation of the NEPS shall be facilitated through the following modalities:

- Establishing the National Employment Council (NEC). The coordination and facilitation role of NEPS implementation is to be undertaken by the NEC. Thus, establishing the Council and staffing of the Secretariat is an important milestone before embarking on the implementation of the policy.
- As an essential element in the process, it is necessary to have a shared understanding on the employment outcomes and policies and strategies meant for achieving such outcomes. This could be done through workshops organized by the MOLSA with relevant stakeholders with whom the policies and strategies are discussed and communicated, possibly with some amendments if deemed necessary. At this level, a check list of issues need to be provided to different sector and macroeconomic policymaking institutions (and on a regular basis afterwards) to ensure that basic employment issues are taken into consideration in their policy, strategy and development plan formulation process.
- Establish a coordination mechanism among key bodies such as the MOLSA, MOFED, CSA and BOLSAs with clearly defined roles and responsibilities in terms of policy and strategy implementation, data collection, data analysis, and information

exchange and dissemination. Similarly, it is of paramount importance that pertinent federal institutions and their regional counterparts are on board in the course of implementing NEPS;

Put in place a well functioning M&E System consistent with the national (PASDEP) M&E system that is functionally linked down to the grass root level that generate information both ways (bottom up and top down) to be able regularly compute indicators on employment outcomes.

3. 4 Policy Review

Like any other policy, employment policies and strategies are dynamic and subject to revision depending on contemporary developments. Structural transformation of the economy and development of the private sector may make it necessary to shift focus towards employment in the industry and service sectors.

Gradual decline of the informal sector, following economic growth, may necessitate reduced focus on the informal sector. Such expected developments, together with experiences gained and observations from M&E results make policy review desirable. In view of this, a policy review exercise is proposed to be conducted in three to four years following the adoption and beginning of implementation of the first NEPS. The policy review exercise should benefit from the M&E results while it is also important to consider the situation and employment potential and impact of contemporary and emerging scenarios in the social, political, and economic environment of the country (and the world). The NEC shall have the mandate to facilitate the policy review process.